# STRIKING the BALANCE

Debating Criminal Justice and Law



MATTHEW LIPPMAN



## STRIKING the BALANCE

Debating Criminal Justice and Law

MATTHEW LIPPMAN

UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS AT CHICAGO



Los Angeles | London | New Delhi Singapore | Washington DC | Melbourne



FOR INFORMATION:

SAGE Publications, Inc. 2455 Teller Road Thousand Oaks, California 91320 E-mail: order@sagepub.com

SAGE Publications Ltd. 1 Oliver's Yard 55 City Road London, EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom

SAGE Publications India Pvt. Ltd.
B 1/I 1 Mohan Cooperative Industrial Area
Mathura Road, New Delhi 110 044
India

SAGE Publications Asia-Pacific Pte. Ltd. 3 Church Street #10-04 Samsung Hub Singapore 049483

Acquisitions Editors: Jerry Westby, Jessica Miller

Editorial Assistant: Jennifer Rubio Production Editor: Tracy Buyan Copy Editor: Melinda Masson Typesetter: Hurix Systems Pvt. Ltd. Proofreader: Barbara Coster

Indexer: Amy Murphy

Cover Designer: Candice Harman Marketing Manager: Amy Lammers Copyright © 2018 by SAGE Publications, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Lippman, Matthew Ross, 1948- author.

Title: Striking the balance: debating criminal justice and law / Matthew Lippman, University of Illinois at Chicago.

Description: Thousand Oaks, California : SAGE, [2017] | Includes index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2016033027 | ISBN 9781506357478 (pbk. : alk. paper)

Subjects: LCSH: Criminal justice, Administration of—United States. | Criminal law—United States. | United States. Constitution. 8th Amendment. | Punishment—United States.

Classification: LCC KF9223 .L57 2017 | DDC 345.73—dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2016033027

This book is printed on acid-free paper.



17 18 19 20 21 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

#### ORGANIZATION OF THE TEXT

Striking the Balance is organized around clashing points of view on contemporary issues in criminal justice and criminal law. The text features a debate format in which contrasting views are presented through original sources. The material in most instances is drawn from majority, concurring, and dissenting judicial opinions that are edited to highlight disagreements on significant public policy questions. An effort has been made in editing the selections to minimize technical legal discussions. The book is premised on the view that reading and analyzing adversarial policy discussions engages students and helps them develop skills in critical thinking and analysis. There also is obvious educational value in asking students to consider various points of view.

The chapter topics in the text are independent of one another, and instructors are able to arrange the material to fit their individual course organization. Each topic features a Question for Debate, a list of Learning Objectives, and an Introduction, which is followed by a point/counterpoint Debate that presents contrasting views on the topic. As noted, these selections in most instances are based on judicial opinions that are edited to highlight public policy considerations. The Summary of the Arguments provides an overview of the debate, clarifies the arguments, and notes points of agreement and disagreement. Questions for Discussion poses questions that highlight the points made in the debate selections. The You Decide feature provides you with the opportunity to apply the arguments and insights in the debate to related legal cases decided by state and federal courts and to contemporary public policy issues that are raised in the debate; these case reprints and article resources are found in the Responses to the "You Decide" Features section in the back of the book. Each topic ends with a list of Web Resources that references sources that supplement the material in the text.

The text is divided into four sections that cover issues in criminal law and justice.

*Introduction.* A brief introduction to the U.S. judicial system and to the public policy dimension of judicial decisions assists students in understanding the material in the text.

**Criminal and Regulatory Laws.** Contrasting views are presented on various contemporary public policy issues. This includes assault weapons, hate crimes, stand your ground laws, police use of deadly force, the "gay panic" defense, stash house entrapment, "battered spouse syndrome," assisted suicide, felony murder, chemical battery, and legalization of prostitution.

**Administration of Justice.** Significant aspects of the administration of justice are covered: plea bargaining, peremptory challenges and jury selection, jury nullification, the use of rap music to establish criminal intent at trial, and mandatory minimum sentences.

**Prison, Punishment, and the Eighth Amendment.** Issues in criminal punishment are discussed including solitary confinement, life imprisonment for juveniles, the death penalty, the death penalty for the rape of a child, and lethal injection.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

I thank the following reviewers for their insightful and invaluable comments and contributions to the manuscript.

Eric T. Bellone

Suffolk University

Heidi S. Bonner

East Carolina University

Patricia Brennan

**Emory University** 

Robert B. Jenkot

Coastal Carolina University

Robert W. Lockwood

Portland State University

Charles Putnam

University of New Hampshire

Tim Robicheaux

Pennsylvania State University

Thanks also are extended to all my present and past colleagues at the University of Illinois at Chicago and in the College of Liberal Arts and Sciences and to all my close personal friends. My students continue to serve as a constant source of inspiration, and their professional contributions and achievements remind me of the importance of classroom education.

I have benefited throughout the years from the wise, intelligent, and close guidance and insight of former acquisitions editor and publisher Jerry Westby, who in my view is unrivaled in the field of criminal justice publishing. I also want to thank Acquisitions Editor Jessica Miller along with Editorial Assistant and eLearning Editor Laura Kirkhuff for their contributions and patient understanding. Senior Project Editor Tracy Buyan once again expertly coordinated the preparation and publication of the manuscript. The text was immensely improved by the meticulous, intelligent, and insightful copyediting of Melinda Masson.

I have two members of my family living in Chicago. My sister, Dr. Jessica Lippman, and my niece, Professor Amelia Barrett, remain a source of encouragement and generous assistance. I also thank Isadora and the late Ralph Semsker and their entire family. As always, the book is dedicated to my parents, Mr. and Mrs. S. G. Lippman, who provided me with love of learning. My father, S. G. Lippman, practiced law for seventy years at the highest level in the service of the most vulnerable members of society. He believed that law was the ultimate calling and never turned away a person in need. Law for my father was a passionate calling to pursue justice and an endless source of discussion, debate, and fascination.

## BRIEF CONTENTS

Preface Acknowl	edgments	xv xvi
PART 1	: INTRODUCTION	1
PART 2	: CRIMINAL AND REGULATORY LAWS	5
2.1	Constitutional Restrictions: Assault Weapons	7
2.2	Constitutional Restrictions: Hate Crimes	17
2.3	Criminal Defense: Stand Your Ground Laws	27
2.4	Criminal Defense: Battered Spouse Syndrome	37
2.5	Criminal Defense: The Fleeing Felon Rule	47
2.6	Criminal Defense: Entrapment	57
2.7	Crimes Against the Person: Assisted Suicide	67
2.8	Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder	77
2.9	Crimes Against the Person: The "Gay Panic" Defense	85
2.1	O Crimes Against the Person: Chemical Endangerment	93
2.1	1 Crimes Against Public Order and Morality: Prostitution	103
PART 3	: ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE	113
3.1	Guilty Pleas: Plea Bargaining	115
3.2	Juries: Peremptory Challenges	123
3.3	Juries: Nullification	131
3.4	Evidence: Rap Music	139
3.5	Sentencing: Mandatory Minimum Sentences	147
PART 4	: PRISON, PUNISHMENT, AND THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT	157
4.1	Prison: Solitary Confinement	159
4.2	Punishment: Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders	169
4.3	Capital Punishment: The Death Penalty	179

4.4	Capital Punishment: The Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child	193
4.5	Capital Punishment: Lethal Injection	201
Responses	to the "You Decide" Features	213
Index		277
About the	Author	287

### DETAILED CONTENTS

Preface Acknowledgments	xv xvi
PART 1: INTRODUCTION	1
PART 2: CRIMINAL AND REGULATORY LAWS	5
2.1 Constitutional Restrictions: Assault Weapons	7
Should Possession of Assault Weapons Be Prohibited, or Are These Weapons Protected by the Second Amendment to the U.S. Constitution? 7 Introduction 7 Debating Assault Weapons 10 Oppose Assault Weapons 10 Judge Robert B. King, dissenting, Kolbe v. Hogan, 813 F.3d 160 (4th Cir. 2016) 10 Judge Frank Easterbrook, majority opinion, Friedman v. Highland Park, 784 F.3d 406 (7th Cir. 2015) 11 Support Assault Weapons 11 Judge Frank Manion, dissenting, Friedman v. Highland Park, 784 F.3d 406 (7th Cir. 2015) Judge William Traxler, majority opinion, Kolbe v. Hogan, 813 F.3d 160 (4th Cir. 2016) 12 Summary of the Arguments 13 Questions for Discussion 14 You Decide 14 Web Resources 15	11
2.2 Constitutional Restrictions: Hate Crimes	17
Do Hate Crime Laws Punish Discriminatory Actions or Discriminatory Thoughts and Chill Freedom of Speech? 17 Introduction 17 Debating Hate Crimes 20 Oppose Hate Crime Laws 20 Chief Justice Nathan Heffernan, majority opinion, State v. Mitchell, 485 N.W.2d 807 (WI. 1992) 20 Support Hate Crime Laws 22 Justice Shirley Abrahamson, dissenting, State v. Mitchell, 485 N.W.2d 807 (WI. 1992) 2 Judge William A. Bablitch, dissenting, State v. Mitchell, 485 N.W.2d 807 (WI. 1992) 22	2
Summary of the Arguments 23 Questions for Discussion 24 You Decide 25 Web Resources 25	

2.3 Criminal Defense: Stand Your Ground Laws	27
Should the Law of Self-Defense Recognize the Right of Individuals to "S Introduction 27  Debating Stand Your Ground Laws 30  Oppose Stand Your Ground Laws 30  Statement of Professor Ronald S. Sullivan Jr. Before the Subord Constitution, Civil Rights, and Human Rights of the Constitution, Civil Rights, and Human Rights of the Constitution of the U.S. Senate (October 29, 2013) 30  Support Stand Your Ground Laws 31  Statement of Senator Ted Cruz of Texas Before the Subcomm Civil Rights, and Human Rights of the Committee on U.S. Senate (October 29, 2013) 31  Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of Statement of John R. Lott Jr., PhD, President of the Crime Professor Statement of St	committee on the committee on the Judiciary littee on the Constitution, the Judiciary of the
Summary of the Arguments 33 Questions for Discussion 34 You Decide 35 Web Resources 35	
2.4 Criminal Defense: Battered Spouse Syndrome	37
Should the Battered Spouse Syndrome Be Recognized as a Criminal Definitroduction 37  Debating Battered Spouse Syndrome 41  Oppose Evidence of Battered Spouse Syndrome 41  Justice Burley Mitchell, majority opinion, State v. Norman, 3'  Support Evidence of Battered Spouse Syndrome 43  Justice Mark Martin, dissenting, State v. Norman, 378 S.E.20	78 S.E.2d 8 (N.C. 1989) 41
Summary of the Arguments 44 Questions for Discussion 45 You Decide 45 Web Resources 46	
2.5 Criminal Defense: The Fleeing Felon Rule	47
Should the Police Use Deadly Force Against Felons Fleeing Nighttime B Introduction 47 Debating the Fleeing Felon Rule for Nighttime Residential Burglary Oppose Common Law Fleeing Felon Rule 50 Justice Byron White, majority opinion, Tennessee v. Garner, Support Common Law Fleeing Felon Rule 51 Justice Sandra Day O'Connor, dissenting, Tennessee v. Garner	50 471 U.S. 1 (1985) 50
Summary of the Arguments 53 Questions for Discussion 53 You Decide 54 Web Resources 55	

Oppose Stash House Stings 61 Judge John T. Noonan, dissenting, United States v. Black, 733 F.3d 294 (9th Cir. 2013) 61  Summary of the Arguments 63 Questions for Discussion 64 You Decide 64 Web Resources 65  2.7 Crimes Against the Person: Assisted Suicide Should Doctors Assisting Suicide Be Held Criminally Liable? 67 Introduction 67 Debating Assisted Suicide 70 Oppose Doctors Assisting Suicide 70 Chief Justice William Rehnquist, majority opinion, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 70 Michigan Supreme Court, memorandum opinion, People v. Kevorkian, 527 N.W.2d 714 (Mich. 1994) 70 Support Doctors Assisting Suicide 71 Justice John Paul Stevens, concurring, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) Justice John Warner, concurring, Baxter v. State, 22 P.3d 1211 (Mt. 2009) 72  Summary of the Arguments 73 Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74 Web Resources 75	2.6 Criminal Defense: Entrapment	<i>57</i>
Summary of the Arguments 63 Questions for Discussion 64 You Decide 64 Web Resources 65  2.7 Crimes Against the Person: Assisted Suicide Should Doctors Assisting Suicide Be Held Criminally Liable? 67 Introduction 67 Debating Assisted Suicide 70 Oppose Doctors Assisting Suicide 70 Chief Justice William Rehnquist, majority opinion, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 70 Michigan Supreme Court, memorandum opinion, People v. Kevorkian, 527 N.W.2d 714 (Mich. 1994) 70 Support Doctors Assisting Suicide 71 Justice John Paul Stevens, concurring, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) Justice John Warner, concurring, Baxter v. State, 22 P.3d 1211 (Mt. 2009) 72  Summary of the Arguments 73 Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74 Web Resources 75  2.8 Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder Should a Felon Be Held Criminally Liable for the Death of a Co-Felon Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder (isbelity for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81 Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	Introduction 57 Debating Stash House Stings 60 Support Stash House Stings 60 Judge Raymond Fisher, majority opinion, United States v. Black, 733 F.3d 294 (9th Cir. 2013) Oppose Stash House Stings 61	60
Should Doctors Assisting Suicide Be Held Criminally Liable? 67 Introduction 67 Debating Assisted Suicide 70 Oppose Doctors Assisting Suicide 70 Chief Justice William Rehnquist, majority opinion, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 70 Michigan Supreme Court, memorandum opinion, People v. Kevorkian, 527 N.W.2d 714 (Mich. 1994) 70 Support Doctors Assisting Suicide 71 Justice John Paul Stevens, concurring, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) Justice John Warner, concurring, Baxter v. State, 22 P.3d 1211 (Mt. 2009) 72 Summary of the Arguments 73 Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74 Web Resources 75  2.8 Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder Should a Felon Be Held Criminally Liable for the Death of a Co-Felon Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81 Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	Summary of the Arguments 63 Questions for Discussion 64 You Decide 64	
Introduction 67 Debating Assisted Suicide 70 Oppose Doctors Assisting Suicide 70 Chief Justice William Rehnquist, majority opinion, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 70 Michigan Supreme Court, memorandum opinion, People v. Kevorkian, 527 N.W.2d 714 (Mich. 1994) 70 Support Doctors Assisting Suicide 71 Justice John Paul Stevens, concurring, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) Justice John Warner, concurring, Baxter v. State, 22 P.3d 1211 (Mt. 2009) 72 Summary of the Arguments 73 Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74 Web Resources 75  2.8 Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder Should a Felon Be Held Criminally Liable for the Death of a Co-Felon Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder & 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81 Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	2.7 Crimes Against the Person: Assisted Suicide	<i>67</i>
Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74 Web Resources 75  2.8 Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder Should a Felon Be Held Criminally Liable for the Death of a Co-Felon Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Justice Michael Bilandic, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81  Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	Introduction 67 Debating Assisted Suicide 70 Oppose Doctors Assisting Suicide 70 Chief Justice William Rehnquist, majority opinion, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 70 Michigan Supreme Court, memorandum opinion, People v. Kevorkian, 527 N.W.2d 714 (Mich. 1994) 70 Support Doctors Assisting Suicide 71 Justice John Paul Stevens, concurring, Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997) 71	
Should a Felon Be Held Criminally Liable for the Death of a Co-Felon Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Justice Michael Bilandic, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81  Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	Questions for Discussion 74 You Decide 74	
Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Justice Michael Bilandic, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81 Justice Benjamin Miller, majority opinion, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 81  Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	2.8 Crimes Against the Person: Felony Murder	77
Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	Under the Felony Murder Rule? 77 Introduction 77 Debating Felony Murder 80 Oppose Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 80 Justice James Heiple, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Justice Michael Bilandic, dissenting, People v. Dekens, 695 N.E.2d 474 (III. 1997) 80 Support Felony Murder Liability for the Death of a Co-Felon 81	
	Summary of the Arguments 81 Questions for Discussion 82 You Decide 82	

2.9 Crimes Against the Person: The "Gay Panic" Defense	85
Should States Prohibit the "Gay Panic" Defense? 85  Introduction 85  Debating the "Gay Panic" Defense 88  Support the "Gay Panic" Defense 88  Letter to the South Australian Parliament by John White, President of the Law Society of South Australia (May 2013) 88  Letter to the South Australian Parliament by John White, President of the Law Society of South Australia (June 2013) 88  Oppose the "Gay Panic" Defense 89  Justice Michael Kirby, dissenting, Green v. The Queen [1997] HCA 50 89  American Bar Association Resolution 113A (August 2013) 89  Amendment to California Penal Code Section 192 (2015) 90	
Summary of the Arguments 90 Questions for Discussion 91 You Decide 91 Web Resources 92	
2.10 Crimes Against the Person: Chemical Endangerment	93
Should Pregnant Women Who Use a Controlled Substance Be Held Criminally Liable for Chemical Endangerment of a Child? 93 Introduction 93 Debating Chemical Endangerment of a Child 96 Support Criminal Liability for Chemical Battery of a Fetus 96 Justice Jean Toal, majority opinion, Whitner v. State, 492 S.E.2d 777 (S.C. 1997) 96 Chief Justice Roy Moore, concurring, Hicks v. State, 153 So.3d 53 (Ala. 2014) 97 Oppose Criminal Liability for Chemical Battery of a Fetus 98 Judge Alan Wilner, majority opinion, Kilmon v. State, 905 A.2d 306 (MD. App. 2006) 98 Summary of the Arguments 99 Questions for Discussion 100 You Decide 100 Web Resources 100	
2.11 Crimes Against Public Order and Morality: Prostitution	103
Should Prostitution Be Decriminalized? 103 Introduction 103 Debating Decriminalization of Prostitution 106 Support Decriminalization of Prostitution 106 Q&A: Policy to Protect the Human Rights of Sex Workers (Amnesty International) 106 Oppose Decriminalization of Prostitution 108 Public Statement: Survivors of Prostitution-Abuse Calling for Enlightenment (SPACE International) 108 Public Statement: Sex Trafficking Survivors United (STSU) 109	
Summary of the Arguments 110 Questions for Discussion 110 You Decide 111 Web Resources 111	

PART 3: ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE	113
3.1 Guilty Pleas: Plea Bargaining	115
Does Plea Bargaining Result in Fair and Just Verdicts? 115 Introduction 115 Debating Plea Bargaining 117 Support Plea Bargaining 117 Justice Byron White, majority opinion, Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970) 117 Oppose Plea Bargaining 118 Justice Brent Appel, majority opinion, Rhoades v. State, Iowa Supreme Court, No. 15-1169 (2016) 118 Justice Antonin Scalia, dissenting, Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S (2012) 119	
Summary of the Arguments 120 Questions for Discussion 121 You Decide 121 Web Resources 122	
3.2 Juries: Peremptory Challenges	123
Should Peremptory Challenges Be Used to Exclude Jurors Based on Race? 123 Introduction 123 Debating Peremptory Challenges 126 Oppose Excluding Jurors Based on Race 126 Justice Lewis Powell, majority opinion, Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) 126 Justice Thurgood Marshall, concurring, Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) 126 Support Excluding Jurors Based on Race 127 Justice William Rehnquist, dissenting, Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) 127 Chief Justice Warren Burger, dissenting, Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) 128	
Summary of the Arguments 128 Questions for Discussion 129 You Decide 129 Web Resources 130	
3.3 Juries: Nullification	131
Should Jurors Be Informed of the Right of Jury Nullification? 131 Introduction 131 Debating Jury Nullification 133 Oppose Informing Jurors of the Right of Jury Nullification 133 Judge Harold Leventhal, majority opinion, United States v. Dougherty, 473 F.2d 1113 (D.C. App. 1972) 133 Support Informing Jurors of the Right of Jury Nullification 134 Judge David Bazelon, dissenting, United States v. Dougherty, 473 F.2d 1113 (D.C. App. 1972) 134	
Summary of the Arguments 136 Questions for Discussion 137 You Decide 137 Web Resources 137	

3.4 Evidence: Rap Music	139
Should Rap Lyrics Composed by a Defendant Be Used at Trial to Establish the Defendant's Guilt?  Introduction 139  Debating Rap Music 141  Oppose Using Rap Music at Trial 141  Justice Nancy Saitta, dissenting, Holmes v. State, 306 P.3d 415 (Nev. 2013) 141  Support Using Rap Lyrics at Trial 142  Chief Justice Kristina Pickering, majority opinion, Holmes v. State, 306 P.3d 415  (Nev. 2013) 142	139
Summary of the Arguments 144 Questions for Discussion 144 You Decide 145 Web Resources 146	
3.5 Sentencing: Mandatory Minimum Sentences	147
Should Mandatory Minimum Sentences Be Abolished? 147 Introduction 147 Debating Mandatory Minimum Sentences 150 Support Mandatory Minimum Sentences 150 United States Sentencing Commission, Report to the Congress: Mandatory Minimum Penalties in the Federal Criminal Justice System (October 2011) 150 Oppose Mandatory Minimum Sentences 151 Judge Stephen Reinhardt, United States v. Hungerford, 465 F.3d 1113 (9th Cir. 2006) Summary of the Arguments 154 Questions for Discussion 154 You Decide 154	) 151
Web Resources 155	
PART 4: PRISON, PUNISHMENT, AND THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT	157
4.1 Prison: Solitary Confinement	159
Is Solitary Confinement Cruel Punishment? 159 Introduction 159 Debating Solitary Confinement 162 Oppose Solitary Confinement 162 Justice Anthony Kennedy, concurring, Davis v. Ayala, 576 U.S (2015) 162 Support Solitary Confinement 163 Justice Clarence Thomas, concurring, Davis v. Ayala, 576 U.S (2015) 163 Judge J. Harvie Wilkinson, opinion, Mickle v. Moore, 174 F.3d 464 (4th Cir. 1999) 16 Judge John Bender, opinion, Rivera v. Pa. Dep't of Corrections, 837 A.2d 525 (Super. Ct. Pa. 2003) 164	3
Summary of the Arguments 165 Questions for Discussion 166 You Decide 166 Web Resources 167	

4.2 Punishment: Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders	169
Should Juvenile Homicide Offenders Be Sentenced to Life Imprisonment? 169 Introduction 169 Debating Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders 172 Oppose Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders 172 Justice Elena Kagan, majority opinion, Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S (2012) 172 Support Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders 173 Chief Justice John Roberts, dissenting, Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S (2012) 173 Justice Samuel Alito, dissenting, Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S (2012) 174	
Summary of the Arguments 175 Questions for Discussion 176 You Decide 176 Web Resources 177	
4.3 Capital Punishment: The Death Penalty	179
Does the Death Penalty Violate the Eighth Amendment Prohibition on Cruel and Unusual Punishment?  Introduction 179  Debating the Death Penalty 182  Oppose the Death Penalty 182  Justice Stephen Breyer, dissenting, Glossip v. Gross, 576 U.S. (2015) 182  Support the Death Penalty 185  Justice Antonin Scalia, concurring, Glossip v. Gross, 576 U.S. (2015) 185  Justice Clarence Thomas, concurring, Glossip v. Gross, 576 U.S. (2015) 186	179
Summary of the Arguments 187 Questions for Discussion 188 You Decide 189 Web Resources 190	
4.4 Capital Punishment: The Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child	193
Should Offenders Convicted of the Rape of a Child Be Punished by the Death Penalty?  Introduction 193  Debating the Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child 196  Oppose the Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child 196  Justice Anthony Kennedy, majority opinion, Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008)  Support the Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child 197  Justice Samuel Alito, dissenting, Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008) 197	196
Summary of the Arguments 198 Questions for Discussion 199 You Decide 200 Web Resources 200	
4.5 Capital Punishment: Lethal Injection	201
Is Lethal Injection Cruel and Unusual Punishment? 201 Introduction 201 Debating Lethal Injection 204	

	Support Lethal Injection 204  Chief Justice John Roberts, majority opinion, Baze v. Rees, 553 U.S. 35 (2008) 204  Justice Samuel Alito, majority opinion, Glossip v. Gross, 576 U.S (2015) 205  Justice Clarence Thomas, concurring, Baze v. Rees, 553 U.S. 35 (2008) 206  Oppose Lethal Injection 207	
	Judge Alex Kozinski, dissenting, <i>Wood v. Ryan</i> , No. 14-16310 (9th Cir. 2014) 207  Justice Sonia Sotomayor, dissenting, <i>Glossip v. Gross</i> , 576 U.S (2015) 207	
	Summary of the Arguments 208 Questions for Discussion 210 You Decide 210 Web Resources 211	
Respons	ses to the "You Decide" Features	213
2.1	Assault Weapons	215
2.2	Hate Crimes	220
2.3	Stand Your Ground Laws	223
2.4	Battered Spouse Syndrome	223
2.5	The Fleeing Felon Rule	226
2.6	Entrapment	230
2.7	Assisted Suicide	238
2.8	Felony Murder	238
2.9	The "Gay Panic" Defense	240
2.10	Chemical Endangerment	240
2.11	Prostitution	241
3.1	Plea Bargaining	241
3.2	Peremptory Challenges	246
3.3	Nullification	251
3.4	Rap Music	251
3.5	Mandatory Minimum Sentences	253
4.1	Solitary Confinement	260
4.2	Life Imprisonment for Juvenile Homicide Offenders	263
4.3	The Death Penalty	268
4.4	The Death Penalty for the Rape of a Child	268
4.5	Lethal Injection	273
Index About t	he Author	277 287

### Part 1

#### Introduction

riminal law is simply whatever the law defines as a criminal offense and punishes with a penalty. The essence of a crime is that it is officially condemned and carries a sense of public denunciation and humiliation. We may not like that someone "cut into line" ahead of us to buy tickets, but this objectionable behavior is not defined as a crime and is not subject to official punishment. The only available remedy may be to confront the "line cutter" or to complain to management.

Where can we find the law? The English common law is the foundation of American criminal law. The origins of the common law can be traced to the Norman conquest of England in 1066. The Norman king, William the Conqueror, was determined to provide a uniform law for England and sent royal judges throughout the country to settle disputes in accordance with common customs and practices of the locale. The principles that compose the common law began to be written down and were transported to the new American colonies where they formed the foundation of the colonial legal system that in turn was adopted by the thirteen original states following the American Revolution.

The federal government and the states in the nineteenth century began to adopt comprehensive written criminal codes. This movement was based on the belief that in a democracy, the people should have the opportunity to know the law and the law should be the product of elected legislators rather than the product of unelected judges. State legislatures at times have abandoned or expanded the common law. For example, in creating the crime of chemical endangerment of a child (discussed in 2.10), the Alabama state legislature created a crime that was unknown in the common law. Alabama and other states also abandoned the common law rule that an assailant who injures a fetus in the womb only is liable for murder if the fetus is born "alive" and then dies as a result of injuries suffered in the womb. Legislators in those states abandoning the "born alive" rule reasoned that a viable fetus is a "life-in-being" and that the criminal law should punish an injury to a fetus in the womb regardless of whether the fetus is born alive.

The interpretation of laws adopted by state legislatures falls within the jurisdiction of state courts. State courts typically are divided into trial courts that hear minor cases and into intermediate courts that hear most criminal and civil cases. Some states provide an automatic appeal from the intermediate court to the state supreme court while others give the supreme court discretion to hear cases that the justices conclude deserve their attention. A single judge typically sits on state trial courts and appellate courts, but state supreme courts are multijudge panels.

Laws passed by the U.S. Congress are interpreted in the first instance by one of the ninety-four federal district trial courts, which, in turn, are grouped within one of eleven regional circuit courts. A single judge presides over a district court; courts of appeals, in contrast, sit in three-judge panels. An individual may appeal the verdict in the court of appeals to the U.S. Supreme Court, which in most instances has the discretion whether to hear a case and only hears a small percentage of appeals. The Court typically will hear a case when there is a disagreement between circuit courts and there is a need for clarification. There are nine Supreme Court justices, and a majority opinion requires a vote by five of the nine judges. A judge also may concur with the majority opinion, meaning that he or she agrees with

the majority for a different reason. Justices also may dissent or disagree with the majority opinion. Keep in mind that dissenting opinions in some instances eventually succeed in attracting majority support and become enshrined as the majority opinion of the Court.

What does it mean to "interpret" a statute? A legislative statute may not be entirely clear. A defendant who is charged with prosecution for a terrorist attack on a subway car used by commuters may claim that he or she cannot be prosecuted under a statute that punishes an attack on a "vehicle." A court may be asked by a defendant to determine whether the legislature intended to include subway cars under the category of vehicles and whether the defendant can be prosecuted under the terrorist law. Judges may argue that the legislative branch makes the law and courts should apply the law as it appears on the face of a statute. Other judges will look at "legislative history" or legislative hearings on the law and the debate on the floor of the legislature to determine whether the legislature intended ("legislative intent") to include subway cars within the term vehicle.

Judges under either approach to interpreting the meaning of vehicle likely will weigh the public policy concern that given the ongoing terrorist threat the term vehicle should be broadly interpreted to include subway cars and other modes of mass transportation. Some judges may conclude that the protection of civil liberties dictates that individuals should be informed of the requirements of the law and only should be criminally punished under a law that explicitly defines the acts that constitute a crime, and that the defendant's conviction accordingly should be reversed.

In an example from the text, the North Carolina Supreme Court in considering whether a defendant may rely on the "battered wife syndrome" in claiming self-defense in addition to examining the law explicitly considered the public policy consequences of narrowly or broadly interpreting the law of self-defense under North Carolina law (discussed in 2.4).

A defendant in a criminal case or a plaintiff challenging a statute in state or federal court may raise a constitutional objection. The U.S. Constitution is the "supreme law of the land," and the Supreme Court has held that the requirements of the Bill of Rights, the first ten amendments to the Constitution, in addition to being applicable to the federal government, are binding through the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause on the states. As a result, a case may begin in the state system but because there is a federal constitutional issue eventually may be litigated in the federal system and go all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court. A case involving a federal law, of course, will begin and end in the federal system and ultimately may be resolved before the U.S. Supreme Court.

State courts in considering the question of whether hate crimes violated defendants' freedom of expression (discussed in 2.2) differed from one another, and the U.S. Supreme Court ultimately resolved the conflict over whether hate crime legislation violates the First Amendment to the Constitution. The Supreme Court in this instance was acting as the chief interpreter of the Constitution under its power of judicial review. Under the power of judicial review, the Supreme Court defines the meaning of the Constitution and will hold unconstitutional federal, state, and local laws that do not conform to the Constitution.

Legal positivism is a theoretical perspective that claims that judges are like umpires who "call balls and strikes" whose judgments are not influenced by their personal views or by "nonlegal" considerations. The starting point for any legal analysis is the law. Judges rely on precedent (stare decisis) and look to the decisions of prior cases in deciding the case before them.

Judges in considering federal constitutional claims, although they are deciding the fate of a single defendant, based on the law may consider the broad public policy aspects of the case along with their legal analysis. A Supreme Court justice, in particular, might ask him- or herself about the impact of a decision that will serve as precedent for every state and federal court. In Tennessee v. Garner, both Justice Byron White in his majority decision and Justice Sandra Day O'Connor in her dissenting opinion considered the impact on the police and public of holding that the police may use deadly force against a felon fleeing a nighttime residential burglary (discussed in 2.5).

A judge's consideration of public policy may be influenced by his or her legal philosophy, political sympathies, and personal worldview. The differing views of judges on crime, prison, and punishment, for example, clearly influenced the legal judgments in the text on capital punishment (discussed in 4.3-4.5), and judges' diverse perspectives on privacy and the sanctity of life impacted their decisions on the right to medically assisted suicide (discussed in 2.7).